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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION A
COSMETIC GROUP USA, INC. § /‘
d/b/a THE COLOR FACTORY, §
§ Civil Action No.
Plaintiff, § .
§ 8-12CV-3933M
V. §
§
INTERCOS S.P.A. and §
INTERCOS AMERICA, INC.,, §
, § JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendants. §

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff Cosmetic Group USA, Inc., d/b/a The Color Factory, (“The Color Factory”) files
this complaint for infringement of its patent rights against defendants Intercos S.p.A. and

Intercos America, Inc. (collectively “Intercos™) and allege as follows:

PARTIES

L. The Color Factory is a California corporation, having a place of business at 8430
Tujunga Avenue, Sun Valley, California 91352.

2. Defendant Intercos S.p.A. (“Intercos Italy”) is an Italian company, having a place
of business at Via Marconi 84, 20041 Argate Brianza (MI), Italy.

3. Defendant Intercos America, Inc. (“Intercos America”) is a Delaware corporation,
having a place of business at 200 Route 303 North, Congers, New York 10920. Intercos
America is a wholly owned subsidiary of Intercos Italy, and upon information and belief serves
as Intercos Italy’s agent in the United States concerning the acts of infringement described

herein.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the
United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 271 ef seq. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this
action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant Intercos Italy in that it is
conducting continuous and systematic business, and carrying out the acts of infringement
complained of herein, in the United States. Upon information and belief, Intercos Italy is
importing the infringing products at issue for sale, and with the intention that they be sold, within
Texas, and within this judicial district, and further, upon information and belief, is offering its
products for sale in the United States. Upon information and belief, Intercos Italy is not subject
to jurisdiction in any state’s courts of general jurisdiction. The exercise of jurisdiction over
Intercos Italy is consistent with the United States Constitution and laws. Based upon the
foregoing, under Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(k)(2), Intercos Italy is subject to jurisdiction in Texas and
within this judicial district. |

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant Intercos America in that it
is conducting continuous and systematic business, and carrying out the acts of infringement
complained of herein, in Texas and within this judicial district. Upon information and belief,
Intercos America is offering its products for sale in this judicial district.

7. Venue is proper in this district and division pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b), (¢),

and (d) and 1400(b).

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 2
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

8. On September 27, 2011, U.S. Patent No. 8,025,266 (“the *266 Patent™), entitled
“Methods and Molds for Producing Customized Hot Pour Products,” was duly and legally issued
to Alfred E. Booth (“Booth™). A copy of the ‘266 Patent is attached as Exhibit A.

9. Pursuant to an April 11, 2006 assignment from Booth to The Color Factory,
recorded in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, The Color Factory is the owner, and
at all times material hereto has been the owner, of all right, title and interest in and to the ’266

Patent, including the right to sue and recover damages for past infringement of the patent.

COUNTI
Infringement of the ‘266 Patent

10.  The Color Factory realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of
paragraphs 1 — 9 above.

11.  Intercos Italy has been and is infringing one or more claims of the *266 Patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(g) by, without authority, importing, offering to sell, and/or selling
within the United States “hot pour” cosmetic products made by the process patented in the ‘266
Patent. Intercos America has been and is infringing one or more claims of the *266 Patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(g) by, without authority, importing, offering for sale, and/or selling
within the United States “hot pour” cosmetic products made by the process patented in the ‘266
Patent. Representative samples of the Intercos products manufactured, imported, offered for
sale, and/or sold in the United States are attached as Exhibit B.

12. The Color Factory has been damaged by Intercos’s infringing activities and is
entitled to an award of damages adequate to compensate for the infringement of the ‘266 Patent,

together with interest and costs.

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 3
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13. Unless enjoined, Intercos will continue to infringe the ‘266 Patent and irreparably
harm The Color Factory.

14.  Upon information and belief, Intercos’s infringement of the ‘266 Patent have been
willful and deliberate. This is an exceptional case within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. § 285, and
The Color Factory is entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys fees incurred in this case.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays for:

A. judgment that Intercos Italy has infringed U.S. Patent No. 8,025,266;

B. judgment that Intercos America has infringed U.S. Patent No. 8,025,266;

C. judgment that Intercos’s infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,025,266 was and is
willful and deliberate;

D. a permanent injunction enjoining and restraining Intercos Italy and Intercos
America, their respective parent(s), subsidiaries and affiliates, and their respective officers,
directors, agents, servants, and employees, and all persons acting for, with, through, or in active
concert or participation with, them, from infringing, inducing the infringement of, and
contributing to the infringement of the claims of U.S. Patent No. 8,025,266;

E. an award of damages adequate to compensate Plaintiff for Intercos’s infringement
of U.S. Patent No. 8,025,266;

F. judgment that Plaintiff recover pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, costs
and treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284;

G. judgment that this is an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and that Plaintiff
be awarded its reasonable attorneys fees incurred in this action; and,

H. such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 4
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby demand
a trial by jury on all issues so triable in this action.

Dated: September 28, 2012

Respectfully submitted,
s e

Kenneth R. Glaser

Texas Bar No. 07999000
kglaser@gardere.com
Terrell R. Miller

Texas Bar No. 24046446
tmiller@gardere.com

GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL L.L.P.
1601 Elm Street, Suite 3000
Dallas, Texas 75201

Telephone: (214) 999-3000

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
COSMETIC GROUP USA, INC.
d/b/a THE COLOR FACTORY

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 5
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METHODS AND MOLDS FOR PRODUCING
CUSTOMIZED HOT POUR PRODUCTS

CROSS-REFERENCE TO RELATED
APPLICATIONS

This application is a continuation-in-part of U.S. patent
application Ser. No. 10/816,740, filed on Apr. 2, 2004, herein
incorporated by reference.

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

The present invention relates to improvements in hot pour
technology, more specifically, these improvement provide
ready to use customized products, and, in particular, an
improved method of hot pouring such materials to form cus-
tomized products.

Prior art hot pour technology requires hot pour materials
(such as, in particular, for cosmetics made available in com-
pact form) to be poured into a first receptacle and then trans-
ferred by gravity or pressure poured into another receptacle
(e.g., the cosmetic receptacle). As such, the poured material
for use in a compact generally has a concave (recessed) view-
ing surface without any distinctive or customized features,
such as embossed or debossed surfaces or the ability to pro-
duce such. In addition, such surfaces are often uneven and
inconsistent. Any customization of such materials or prod-
ucts, such as the creation of designs on the viewing surface of
the material requires additional and complicated steps that
normally rely on computers, lasers, and other equipment.
Such customization techniques are not only complicated and
costly (e.g., requiring costly equipment), they often produce
inconsistent results. Clearly, then, there remains a need to
provide amore economical and efficient method of producing
hot pour materials with consistent and even surfaces as well as
providing hot pour products that may be customized with ease
and efficiency and ready for use.

SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

The present invention solves the current problem associ-
ated with current costly and inefficient methods of producing
and customizing hot pour materials and products. For
example, the present invention provides improved hot poured
materials, such as cosmetic articles and the like, and a mold
and process for providing the same.

In one embodiment, the present invention provides a pro-
cess for preparing a customized, ready-to-use hot pour prod-
uct, such as a hot pour cosmetic article or the like, comprising
the steps of providing a mold for casting hot pour material in
a fluid state, the mold having a top part and a base part and at
least one interior cavity formed thereby with at least one pour
space in the top part, applying hot pour material into the mold
through the pour space into at least one interior cavity and
allowing the hot pour material to cool, removing the top part
of the mold such that a portion of the hot pour material is in
contact with the base part and wherein a portion of the hot
pour material provides a first exposed surface, and releasing
the hot pour material from the base part to provide a second
exposed surface, thereby providing a ready-to-use hot pour
product. When desired, the first as well as second exposed
surfaces may include customized portions that are embossed,
debossed, or both.

A portion of the process or the process in its entirety may be
automated. Further, the process may include applying more
than one hot pour material, each material poured at the same
time or at different times. Each hot pour material may differin
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color, composition, or both. “Hot pour material” as described
herein is any material capable of being formed in a hot pour
process and provides a final product. The introduction of
pressure fluid to release the hot pour material may take advan-
tage of any of a number of release techniques known to one of
ordinary skill in the art. Preferably, pressure fluid is applied
evenly through the base part and/or top part of the mold to
provide for an even ejection force.

The present invention also provides a mold for preparing a
customized hot pour product, the mold being capable of
receiving a hot pour material, such as a cosmetic article or the
like, and comprises a top part with a pour space and a base part
with at least one customized mold portion. The base part
fiirther comprises some or all of the following: outer rim,
inner rim, base surface, and one or more interior base cham-
bers or cavities, bottom walls, conduits or passages, and cus-
tomized mold portions, such as removable members and
inserts, in which the customized portions may be shaped,
multi-elevational, raised as a projection, and/or sunken as a
recess or combinations thereof to provide for a hot pour
product that is embossed, debossed, or both. The mold top
(i.e., top part) may include similar customized mold portions
and/or pressure fluid passages, as well as a perimeter wall, a
planar surface, and one or more pour spaces as needed. Each
pour space may be large enough to encompass a predominant
portion of the top part.

The mold may further include more than one cavity as well
as one or more desired inserts and/or removable members,
any of which may be of any shape having recesses, projec-
tions or both, as desired, to provide for an overall design that
is uniform or non-uniform. Mold, insert, cavity and remov-
able member shapes need not be the same. Examples of useful
shapes include number, letter, word, cylinder, sphere, poly-
gon, palette, or combination thereof, as examples. Upon
removal from the mold, a shaped material provided by a mold
of the present invention may be further transferred to a recep-
tacle of a similar shape or one that is different.

The present invention may be used with any number of hot
pour materials, including cosmetic articles for lips, eyes, face,
etc. (e.g., lipstick, lip gloss, eye wear, pomade and their
components and packaging). In addition, the material and
product formed therefrom may be placed in one or more
sampling devices and may even be used for product promo-
tion or as handouts. Examples of promotional means or hand-
outs include magazine inserts, postcards, department store
catalogs, and customer mailings. In the cosmetic industry,
examples of receptacles include pans, compacts, godets,
tubes, bottles, jars, flasks, and boxes. Other suitable recep-
tacles are also used.

An advantage of the present invention includes its avail-
ability and use with applied technology processes, such as
dispensing and dosing systems and devices. As such, it may
be used with automated or semi-automated systems and/or
with multiprocessing equipment (e.g., equipment for feeding,
preheating, filling, post heating, refrigerating, and collating).
The present invention enables such hot pour products to be
produced in a consistent and less costly fashion, and is readily
customizable as needed.

Those skilled in the art will further appreciate the above-
noted features and advantages of the invention together with
other important aspects thereof upon reading the detailed
description that follows in conjunction with the drawings.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS

For more complete understanding of the features and
advantages of the present invention, reference is now made to
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the detailed description of the invention along with the
accompanying figures, wherein:

FIG. 1 depicts a top plan view of the bottom or base part of
a mold of the present invention;

FIG. 2 depicts a bottom plan view of the top part of a mold
of the present invention,

FIG. 3 depicts a side elevation view of the top and base
parts of a mold of the present invention, wherein the top and
base parts of the mold are separated from each other;

FIG. 4 is a section view of the top and base parts of a mold
of the present invention, shown separated from each other;

FIG. 5 is a section view of the top and base parts of a mold
of the present invention, wherein the top and base parts are
connected;

FIG. 6 is a section view of a mold of the present invention
showing the step of pouring a hot pour material through the
top part of the mold;

FIG. 7 is a section view showing the step of removing the
top part from the base part of a mold of the present invention;

FIGS. 8A and 8B depict section views showing positioning
and placement of a receptacle on the hot pour product while
still in the mold base or bottom part;

FIG. 9 is a section view showing the step of introducing
pressure fluid through the base part of a mold of the present
invention;

FIG. 10 is a section view showing the step of removing a
hot pour product from a base part of the mold of the present
invention;

FIG. 11A is a section view of a hot pour product in a
receptacle following its transfer from a mold of the present
invention, wherein the hot pour product extends above the
side edge of the receptacle;

FIG. 11B is a side elevation view of n hot pour product in
a side elevation, partially sectioned, wherein the hot pour
product is in a first receptacle which is disposed in a second
receptacle;

FIG. 12 is a section view of a hot pour product in a recep-
tacle following its transfer from a mold of the present inven-
tion, wherein the hot pour product is disposed with its upper
surface coplanar with a top edge of the receptacle;

FIG. 13 is a side elevation view of a hot pour product in a
receptacle following its transfer from a mold of the present
invention, wherein the hot pour product is disposed substan-
tially within the receptacle;

FIG. 14 is an exploded perspective view of another
embodiment of a mold of the present invention;

FIG. 15 is a section view taken along line 15-15 of FIG. 14;

FIG. 16 is a section view taken along line 16-16 of FIG. 14;

FIG. 17 is a section view of yet another embodiment of a
mold of the present invention;

FIG. 18 is an exploded perspective view of still another
embodiment of a mold of the present invention;

FIG. 19 is a section view taken from line 19-19 of FIG. 18;

FIG. 20 is a section view taken from the same line as FIG.
19 but with the top part removed; and

FIG. 21 is aplan view of a receptacle for a hot pour product
in accordance with another aspect of the present invention.

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE INVENTION

Although making and using various embodiments of the
present invention are discussed in detail below, it should be
appreciated that the present invention provides many inven-
tive concepts that may be embodied in a wide variety of
contexts. The specific aspects and embodiments discussed
herein are merely illustrative of ways to make and use the
invention, and do not limit the scope of the invention.
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In the description which follows like parts are marked
throughout the specification and drawing with the same ref-
erence numerals, respectively. The drawing figures are not
necessarily to scale and certain features may be shown exag-
gerated in scale or in a somewhat generalized or schematic
form in the interest of clarity and conciseness.

Now referring to FIGS. 1 and 4, an example of a mold 2,
FIG. 1, in accordance with the invention is illustrated with
respect to a base part 4. Generally, the exemplary base part 4
is a shaped block having a bottom wall 6, an upward facing
continuous, planar outer rim 8, an inner rim 10, at least one
interior base chamber or cavity 12 delimited by a base surface
14. (See FIG. 4) The outer rim 8 is of a different, often lower,
elevation than the inner rim 10. Likewise, the inner rim 10 is
generally of a different elevation than the base surface 14 and
delimits the top of the base part 4. The base surface 14 and/or
inner rim 10 will generally include one or more projections 16
(e.g., raised or debossed portions) one shown, as well as one
or more recesses 18 (e.g., sunken or embossed portions) one
shown, with respect to a baseline 20. (See FIG. 4) Baseline 20
may be coplanar with outer rim 8. The base surface 14 may
include only projection 16 or only recess 18. The projection
16 and/or recess 18 may be of various configurations or
combinations of configurations, and generally provides for a
product that is shaped, such as in a uniform design, nonuni-
form design, letter(s), and/or word(s) with viewing surfaces
that are embossed, debossed or both. One or more pressure
fluid passages 22 are located at various positions in bottom
wall 6 and extend between bottom wall 6, opening into one or
more interior base chambers or cavities 12. Pressure fluid
passages 22 open generally into the interior base chamber or
cavity 12 at projections 16 and recesses 18; however, the
pressure fluid passages may be disposed in other locations
opening into interior base chamber 12.

FIG. 1 shows a base part 4 that is square in shape. Similarly,
the figure shows a square-shaped outer rim 8, square-shaped
inner rim 10, and square-shaped base surface 14. Any alter-
native shape may be used for the base part 4, outer rim 8, inner
rim 10, and base surface 14. In 6ne embodiment of the base
part 4, the outer rim 8, inner rim 10, and base surface 14 are
the same shape. Alternatively, the outer rim 8, inner rim 10,
and base surface 14 may be of different shapes. Shapes
include but are not limited to a rectangle, triangle, sphere,
polygon, and combinations thereof. The shape may be a
design that is uniform or non-uniform, and may include let-
ters and/or words, as examples.

Now referring to FIG. 2, there is illustrated an example of
atop part 30 of a mold of the present invention. Generally, the
top part 30 comprises a perimeter wall 32 delimited by a
planar surface 34, and at least one pour space 40. A recess 36,
as shown in FIG. 4, is formed in top part 30 between surface
34 and a perimeter ledge or shoulder 38 and opens to the pour
space 40. Optionally, the top part 30 may also include pres-
sure fluid passages as needed (not shown). While FIG. 2
shows the top part 30, perimeter wall 32, and surface 34 to be
rectangular in shape, any alternative shape may be used.
Shapes include one or more of the shapes described above
(e.g., rectangle, triangle, sphere, polygon, uniform design,
non-uniform design, letter, word, and combinations thereof).
In the embodiment shown in FIG. 2, the perimeter wall 32,
planar surface 34, and pour space 40 are the same shape.
Alternatively, the perimeter wall 32, planar surface 34, and
pour space 40 may be of different shapes. The perimeter wall
32 of the top part 30 is often the same shape as the outer rim
8 of the base part 4; however, the perimeter wall 32 (of the top
part 30) and the outer rim 8 (of the base part 4) may be of
different shapes. Likewise, the planar surface 34 of the top
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part 30 are often the same shape as the inner rim 10 of the base
part 4, but may be of different shapes.

When referring to the top part 30, as shown in FIG. 2, the
perimeter wall 32 and surface 34 may or may not be continu-
ous. When not continuous, they comprise separate parts that
are in close contact with one another. As shown in FIG. 2, the
perimeter wall 32 and surface 34 are of different elevations.
Generally, the perimeter wall 32 of top part 30 fits the outer
rim 8 of base part 4. Similarly, surface 34 of top part 30 fits
inner rim 10 of the base part 4. Surface 34 may, however,
include a larger surface than shown (e.g., wider). In such a
case, pour space 40 of top part 30 will be dimensionally
smaller. In addition, top part 30 may have more than one pour
space 40. Top part 30 may also comprise one or more
recesses, projections and/or pressure fluid passages. The
shape and design of such projections and/or recesses may
help determine the number and location of pour spaces.

FIGS. 3 and 4 illustrate how top part 30 and base part 4 of
a mold engage each other. Arrows 71 in FIGS. 3 and 4 show
how the top part 30 is positioned in order to engage it to base
part 4. FIG. 4 shows pour space 40 of top part 30 as well as
projection 16, recess 18, and pressure fluid passages 22 of
base part 4. Top part 30 also includes a shoulder or perimeter
ledge 38 that contacts base part 4 of the mold of the present
invention, dimensions of which will vary depending on, for
example, the shape of the mold and on the number and extent
of projections and/or recesses. Consequently, pour space 40
may be narrower or wider than shown, depending on the
dimensions of shoulder or perimeter ledge 38.

Generally, the method of introducing a hot pour material to
a mold of the present invention to form a product, such as a
cosmetic article or the like, comprises the steps of setting up
amold 2 with top part 30 and base part 4 tightly engaged (FIG.
5), adding hot pour material (HPM) 49 (FIG. 6) to the mold,
such as mold 2, to form a hot pour product 50 (herein HPP 50).
Hot pour material 49 is added to mold 2 through one or more
pour spaces 40 to a fili level 60. HPP 50 is allowed to cool to
a hot pour consistency using cooling techniques known to one
of ordinary skill inthe art. As shown in FIGS. 5 and 6, fill level
60 is coplanar with perimeter wall 32 of top part 30. Other
alternatives may be equally advantageous depending on the
desired end product.

Upon cooling of HPP 50, top part 30 of mold 2 is removed
carefully, generally by moving upward relative to base part 4
(as shown in FIG. 7). A first pan or receptacle 70 replaces top
part 30 of mold 2 (as shown in FIGS. 8A and 8B). HPP 50, in
contact with first receptacle 70, is released from base part 4 by
introducing pressure fluid, such as compressed air, through
one or more pressure fluid passages 22 (as shown in FIGS. 9
and 10) providing for HPP 50 in contact with first receptacle
70, wherein HPP 50 displays one or more projection 16
and/or one or more recess 18 (as shown in FIG. 11).

As shown in FIGS. 5 and 6, the highest elevation for base-
line 20 of base part 4 is lower than projection 16 and higher
than recess 18 of mold 2. Other embodiments may provide for
one or more projection 16 and/or one or more recess 18 of
base part 4 to be higher than the highest elevation of the
baseline 20. In addition, peak portions of projection 16 may
be near or coplanar with fill level 60. Furthermore, fill level 60
may be coplanar with the uppermost surface of top part 30, as
shown in FIGS. 5 and 6. An alternative embodiment includes
a fill level that is not coplanar with the uppermost surface of
top part 30.

Removal of top part 30 of mold 2 from base part 4 after
HPP 50 has cooled, as shown in FIG. 7, may be performed
mechanically or by hand. In some instances, pressure fluid,
such as air, introduced through pressure fluid passages 22a
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(FIG. 6) may used to remove the top part 30 from base part 4.
The addition of a first receptacle 70 to the cooled HPP 50, as
shown in FIGS. 8A and 8B, may also be performed mechani-
cally or manually. Similarly, the first receptacle 70 may be
introduced into a second receptacle 72, as shown in FIG. 11B.
Mechanical techniques, as used herein and throughout the
specification are those known to one of ordinary skill in the art
and may be automated.

As shown in FIG. 11A, HPP 50 projects above the upper-
most surface 74 of a receptacle 70. Alternate embodiments
include arrangements where a top surface of formed HPP S0
is either coplanar with a top cooperative surface 74a of recep-
tacle 704, as shown in FIG. 12, or below an uppermost surface
74b of a receptacle 705, as shown in FIG. 13. The surfaces 74,
74a or 74b of receptacles 70, 70a, and 70b may be a continu-
ous, discontinuous and/or shaped with respect to the comple-
mentary surface of HPP 50. In addition, portions of the
complementary surface of HPP 50 may remain exposed, thus,
absent of contact with any portion of a first receptacle. A
similar occurrence is possible with a second receptacle 72
(FIG. 11B). For example, first receptacle 72 may be contigu-
ous with a cooperative surface of HPP 50 or with the upper
surface of second receptacle 70, as shown, or it may be above
or below these surfaces. In addition, second receptacle 72
may have all or only a portion of its surface in contact with the
first receptacle and/or a hot pour product.

Accordingly, the process as provided herein includes the
provision of a two part mold with a top part and a base part
that engage to form at least one interior cavity capable of
receiving at least one hot pour material. The top part generally
comprising all, some, and at least one or more of the follow-
ing: pour space, perimeter wall, planar surface, conduit or
passage, and/or customized mold portion, including insert,
removable member, projection, and/or recess, such that the
customized portions are either raised as a projection, sunken
as a recess or combinations thereof to provide for a hot pour
product that is embossed, debossed, or both. Recesses and
projections may reside on any portion of the top part capable
of contacting a portion of at least one hot pour material,
including the at least one perimeter wall, planar surface and/
or pour space.

The base part generally comprise all or some of the follow-
ing, including at least one of the following: outer rim, inner
rim, base surface, interior base chamber or cavity, bottom
wall, conduit or passage, insert and customized mold portion,
including insert, removable member, projection, and/or
recess, such that the customized portions are either raised as
a projection, sunken as a recess or combinations thereof to
provide for hot pour product that is embossed, debossed, or
both. The customized mold portion may reside on any portion
of the base part capable of contacting a portion of at least one
hot pour material including the at least one outer rim, inner
rim, base surface, interior base chamber or cavity, bottom
wall, and/or insert. A removable member of the base part may
have customized mold portions as desired. The removable
member(s) may remain part of the final customized hot pour
product or be removed prior to product use.

The process of the present invention typically includes
release of the hot pour product from the mold. The product is
typically released into a receptacle capable of receiving a hot
pour product (e.g., cosmetic article or the like), such as case,
compact, godet, box, or equivalent. Examples of suitable
materials for a receptacle include plastic, a hardened polymer
or polymer blend, glass, fibrous material, or metal, wherein
the receptacle may be transparent or opaque. The receptacle is
typically placed in contact with all or a portion of a first
exposed surface.
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The process may also include a step of contacting a second
receptacle. The second receptacle may contact either the first
receptacle and/or portions of the first exposed surface or
contact all or portions of a second exposed surface. Accord-
ingly, the process provides for a ready-to-use product com-
prising one or more hot pour materials having one or more
customized portions with at least one exposed surfaces, each
surface typically customized with one or more embossments,
debossments or both.

A mold in accordance with the present invention may com-
prise alternate embodiments, such as that shown in the
exploded perspective view of mold 100 in FIG. 14 or in the
section view of mold 200 in FIG. 17 or in the exploded
perspective view of mold 300 in FIG. 18. Such molds of the
present invention may include, additionally, an insert pat-
terned and shaped for placement inside the mold as shown
with insert 144 of FIG. 14 as well as a pan or receptacle
patterned a shaped for placement on a hot pour product as
shown with pan 502 of FIG. 21. Similar inserts and pans may
be patterned and shaped to be provided with other embodi-
ments of the present invention, when not depicted in the
figure.

Referring to FIGS. 14, 15 and 16, the mold 100 includes a
shaped top part 104 and shaped multi component base part
102. Top part 104 and base part 102 may be any desired shape,
such as rectangular, square, triangle, sphere, polygon, and
combinations thereof, and may also include a uniform or
nonuniform shape, such as one shaped to resemble one or
more letters, numbers, or words. As with mold 2, multiples of
mold 100 may be aligned in series for multi-mold processing.
Alternatively, a top part and base part of a mold of the present
invention may be shaped with features that permit multi-well
processing in a single mold, as depicted in FIG. 18 showing
top part 304 and base part 302.

Referring still to FIGS. 14, 15, and 16, top part 104 typi-
cally comprises a perimeter wall 106 and at least one pour
space 108 bounded by at least one planar surface 110. Planar
surface 110 may be shaped, angled or perpendicular to an
x-axis formed by lines 15-15 or lines 16-16 as depicted in
FIG. 14. Top part 104 further comprises an upper surface 112
and a lower surface 114 that may be of equal or different
dimensions. Lower surface 114 may have one or more
recesses and projections.

Top part 104 is typically shaped and sized for direct contact
with base part 102. Top part 104 may also include features for
aligning top part 104 with base part 102 in one or more
suitable positions. Features may include elevation and/or
dimensional changes of an outer rim that are complementary
to elevation and/or dimensional changes of lower surface 114.
Alignment of parts 112 and 114, as shown in FIG. 14, is
provided by one or more alignment pins 116 that extend from
the lower surface 114 of top part 104 and are received in
cooperating holes 118 in base part 102. Alignment pins 116
and other features may be formed integral with top part 104 or
provided as additional elements as needed. Alignment holes
may be continuous through the mold, e.g., present on both the
upper and lower surfaces of top part 104 and base part 102 or
may be formed intersecting only one of the mold part sur-
faces. Suitable alternate location or alignment features
include stops, pins, screw, plugs, and clips capable of extend-
ing from at least a portion of top part 104 to at least a portion
of base part 102 or of fitting into location or alignment holes,
such as holes 118.

Referring further to FIGS. 14, 15, and 16, base part 102
generally comprises a bottom wall 120 (which may be sepa-
rable), an upward facing continuous, planar face or rim 122,
at least one interior base chamber or cavity 124 for receiving
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one or more hot pour materials and delimited by an inner rim
126 and a base surface 128. Outer face or rim 122 may be a
different elevation than inner rim 126 and inner rim 126 is
typically a different elevation than base surface 128. Base
surface 128 and/or inner rim 122 may additionally comprise
one or more projections (e.g., raised or debossed portions) as
well as one or more recesses (e.g., sunken or embossed por-
tions) with respect to a suitable baseline.

Inner rim 126 and base surface 128 may be further shaped
and sized to form a continuous and elastically deflectable
removable member 130. Removable member 130 is dimen-
sioned for close fitting contact in a recess 107 formed in base
part 102 and is typically pan shaped. The lower surface of
removable member 130 is typically a different elevation than
that of bottom wall 120 of FIGS. 14, 15, and 16. Removable
member 130 is retained in recess 107 by removable bottom
wall 120. An alternative configuration is depicted in FIG. 18
showing a base member bottom wall 320 with reference to
removable member 330. Sidewalls of removable member 130
may be generally planar as shown for outer sidewall 150 in
FIG. 14, or non-planar as shown in FIG. 18 for sidewall 350
of removable member 330.

A mold of the present invention may also include insert 144
shaped and sized to fit within cavity 124 of mold 100, as
shown in FIGS. 15 and 16. Insert 144 may include a grid 146
patterned for multi-pour processing and/or multi-elevational
pours or to reinforce the resulting hot pour product. Grid 146
of insert 144 may serve as support for a hot pour material. All
or portions of grid 146 may lie within a hot pour material
depending on desirability. Grid 146 may be any desired shape
and/or elevation, as required, portions of which may serve as
solid surfaces.

FIGS. 15 and 16 illustrate how bottom wall 120 of base part
102 is secured to base part member 136 by conventional
machine screws 152. Screws 152 are not essential and may
also bereplaced by alternative alignment means known to one
of ordinary skill in the art.

FIG. 16 also illustrates how alignment pins 116 pass from
top part 104 through a portion of base part 102. In this
embodiment, alignment pins 116 pass into bores 118 in base
part member 136 of base part 102. Alignment pins 116 are not
essential and may also be replaced by alternative alignment
means known to one of ordinary skill in the art. FIG. 15 and
FIG. 16 illustrate an opening or space 154 in bottom wall 120
that is dimensionally smaller in diameter than that of remov-
able member 130, but large enough to allow a conduit 155 or
other pressure fluid source to be operably in communication
with a lower portion of base part 102, such as bottom wall 128
of removable member 130. When required, conduit 155 is
operable to conduct pressure fluid to or from space 154 to flex
member 130 to assist in the release of a hot pour material from
mold 100 of the present invention.

In the embodiments depicted in FIGS. 15 and 16, insert 144
is disposed above removable member 130. Insert 144 may
further comprise one or more projections or recesses at any of
its upper or lower surfaces. Accordingly, insert 144 may have
any of a number of alternative positions as it resides in base
part 104. All or portions of insert 144 may be visible or
invisible after filling space or-cavity 124 with one or more hot
pour materials. For example, FIGS. 15 and 16, show gap 156
above insert 144 and below top part 104. All or portions of gap
156 will be filled with one or more hot pour materials, as
desired.

Referring now to FIG. 17, yet another mold 200 of the
present invention is depicted having a shaped top part 204 and
shaped base part 202. Top part 204 comprises perimeter wall
206 and at least one pour space 208 defined by at least one
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perimeter surface 210. Surface 210 may be shaped or have
one or more angles as desired as well as comprise one or more
recesses and/or projections. Top part 204 further comprises
an upper surface 212 and a lower surface 214 that may be
parallel and of equal or different dimensions. Lower surface
214 may have one or more recesses and/or projections.

Base part 202 of mold 200 comprises a downward facing
surface or bottom wall 220, an upward facing continuous,
planar surface or outer rim 222, at least one interior base
chamber or cavity 224 for receiving one or more hot pour
materials and a recess or inner rim 226 delimited by a base
surface 228. Outer rim or surface 222 may be a different
elevation than base surface 228. Base surface 228 and/or
inner rim 226 may additionally comprise one or more projec-
tions (e.g., raised or debossed portions) and/or as one or more
recesses (e.g., sunken or embossed portions) with respect to a
baseline 234. Base part 202 further includes one or more
passages 254 operable to be connected to a pressure fluid
source by way of a conduit 255. Because base part 202 is
depicted without and does not include a removable member,
any pressure fluid source in communication with cavity 224
by way of passages 254 and conduit 255 will be operable with
conduit 255 to assist in the release of a hot pour product from
mold 200. Release typically occurs by applying pressure fluid
to a downward facing surface of such formed product.

In mold 200, placement of top part 204 with base part 202
include alignment pins 216, shown passing from top part 204
into alignmentholes 217 in base part 202. Alignment pins 216
are not essential and may also be replaced by alternative
alignment means known to one of ordinary skill in the art.

Mold 200 may have an insert 244 disposed therein, shaped
and sized to fit within cavity 224. Insert 244 is similar to insert
144 and typically includes a patterned grid, at least one solid
surface, and/or one or more recesses and/or projections. The
salid surface may be of a single elevation or multi-elevational
and may encompass all or a portion of insert 244. Presence of
a grid and/or the at least one solid surface are especially
suitable for multi-pour processing and/or multi-elevational
pours. In FIG. 17, insert 244 is shown to reside above and
engaged with base surface 228; however, alternative positions
are suitable. A small gap 256, shown above insert 244 and
below pour space 208 in FIG. 17, is dependent on the position
and geometry of the insert. When desired, gap 256 is filled
entirely or in part with a hot pour material. As such, all or a
portion of insert 244 may be visible after addition of one or
more hot pour materials to form a hot pour product similar to
HPP 50, for example.

In another embodiment of the present invention depicted in
FIGS. 18 and 19, multiple pour spaces 308 are revealed and
formed spaced apart in a top part 304 of a shaped mold 300.
Mold 300 permits multiple hot pour products to be prepared
by a single mold. Mold 300 comprises features and elements
similar to those described for mold 2, mold 100 and mold 200
of the present invention. For example, mold 300 includes
shaped top part 304 and cooperable shaped base part 302.
Engagement of top part 304 and base part 302 provides for
multiple cavities, each cavity capable of receiving at least one
hot pour material. Customized hot pour products are prepared
in mold 300 from, for example, one or more recesses and/or
projections formed on portions of top part 304 and/or portions
of base part 302, such as on surfaces 310 or 314 of top part 304
or on base surface 328 of base part 302. In addition, mold 300
is capable of receiving an insert shaped and/or patterned as
desired.

Asdepictedin FIG. 18, base part 302 supports spaced apart
removable members 330 with each associated with each pour
space 308. Each removable member 330 is characterized as a
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shallow pan shaped member having a bottom wall 328 (FIG.
19), an upstanding perimeter side wall 329 and an outwardly
projecting perimeter flange 331. Flange 331 includes a perim-
eter recess 333 and intersecting sidewall 329. Flange 331 also
includes a continuous or perimeter depending rim portion 335
spaced from sidewall 328. Mold bottom part 302 is provided
with spaced apart recesses 303 that are shaped to receive the

- member 330 in snug fitting relationship as shown in FIGS. 19
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and 20. Each recess 303, in receipt of member 330 includes a
passage or space 354 that opens to recess 303 and is operably
connected to a conduit 3544 adapted to be connected to a
source of pressure fluid, not shown. Removable member 330
is typically formed of a resilient flexible polymer material and
is responsive to pressure fluid acting on bottom wall 328 and
within a space between bottom wall 328 and recess bottom
wall 3032 to flex and release a molded product formed
therein.

Neither holes nor alignment pins are required for place-
ment and/or alignment of top part 304 with base part 302 of
mold 300 as depicted in FIG. 19. A downward facing planar
lower surface 314 of top part 304 includes stepped depending
perimeter flanges 315 (one shown in FIG. 19) projecting
therefrom and defining with interior walls 309, the pour space
308. Flange 315 nests in recess 333 and rests on flange surface
3314, which is disposed slightly below a planar surface and
parting line 301a of mold part 302. Mold parts 302 and 304
are aligned by the aforementioned flange 315 and/or may be
secured together by various additional or alternate means,
including cooperating magnets 3005 and 300c¢ disposed on
the respective mold parts 302 and 304 (FIG. 18). Mold parts
302 and 304 may be placed in an apparatus, not shown, for an
automated or somewhat automated process as described
herein.

Generally, a process of introducing a hot pour material
such as a cosmetic article or the like, to any mold of the
present invention comprises steps as previously described or
as further disclosed herein. The process includes setting up a
mold having a top part and base part well engaged, adding at
least one hot pour material to the mold through one or more
pour spaces to a suitable fill level, and allowing the at least one
hot pour material to cool to a hot pour consistency using
cooling techniques known to one of ordinary skill in the art.
The mold top part and base part when engaged form at least
one cavity to be filled with the at least one hot pour material.
The one or more pour spaces of the top part may be as large or
as small as desired. Pour spaces may be combined with one or
more projections and/or recesses on suitable portions of the
top part that will form customizable portions on a first surface
of a product upon removal of the top part of the mold. Fill
level demarcations are not necessary in the cavity ormold. On
the other hand, one or more recesses, projections, solid sur-
faces and/or elevations in the base part of the mold or on an
insert provided therein may be suitably used as fill levels,
when desired.

Customization of a hot pour product of the present inven-
tion is provided by a mold having one or more shapes,
recesses, projections, solid (base) surfaces, inserts, remov-
able members and any combination thereof. Each of the
recesses, projections, removable members, solid surfaces
and/or inserts may be shaped of its own accord and be of
identical or differing elevations depending on the desired
outcome for a customized hot pour product. When more than
one hot pour material is provided to a mold, the more than one
hot pour material is poured simultaneously or is poured at
different stages—in which case a first hot pour material is
allowed to cool before any additional hot pour material is
provided to the mold. Such staging may be repeated as often
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and in any combination desired to achieve the final custom-
ized hot pour product. All or a portion of pour spaces may be
used at any one time when more than one pour space is
provided with a mold.

Molds of the present invention having one or more inserts
within one or more cavities do not require the same number of
inserts in each cavity. When multiple cavities are present,
some cavities may have no insert at all. The one or more
inserts are typically placed before introduction of a hot pour
material when only one hot pour material is poured. When
more than one hot pour material is poured, one or more inserts
are placed either before or after introduction of a first hot pour
material. Accordingly, multiple inserts may be placed in any
one cavity and at any stage of a hot pour process to achieve a
final customized hot pour product. The one or more inserts
may further include one or more fill level demarcations,
wherein demarcations are provided by one or more recesses,
projections and/or solid surfaces. The one or more fill levels
may each be identical or of different elevations relative to an
indicated baseline, depending on the desired end product.

After all hot pour materials are poured and cooled, the top
part is removed carefully. In one embodiment, the top part is
moved upward relative to the base part. Alternate removal
methods are also suitable with this invention. Removal of the
top part provides for a first exposed surface which is followed
by release of the hot pour product from the base part to
provide a second exposed surface. Removal of the top part
and release of the base part may be by hand or via mechanical
intervention, such as introduction of pressure fluid through
one or more spaces or pressure fluid passages. Removal and
release may also be incorporated in an automated process.
When desired, a first receptacle is placed in contact with a
portion of the first exposed surface before release of the hot
pour product from the base part. A second receptacle may also
be placed in contact with either a portion of the first recep-
tacle, the first exposed surface, combinations thereof, or the
second exposed surface.

As shown in FIG. 19, typically a hot pour material 362 is
filled to a desired fill level 358. Fill level 358 is coplanar with
surface 301a but may be above or below outer rim surface
3014 and/or inner rim surface 310 of top part 304. As further
depicted in FIG. 19, a fill level 358a is above both outer rim
surface 301a and rim surface 311a. Top part 304 may be
removed by mechanical means or by hand once the hot pour
material has cooled revealing a first exposed surface 364.
When top part 364 includes projections and/or recesses on its
lower surface, first exposed surface 364 will reflect a mirror
image of such projections and/or recesses. If hot pour mate-
rial is poured to fill level 358a, excess material may be
removed down to level 358, for example, after separation of
parts 302 and 304. Additionally or alternatively, non-desir-
able irregularities on first exposed surface 364 may be
removed or leveled by a leveling means known to one of
ordinary skill in the art.

Contact of a receptacle to the cooled hot pour product 363
(FIG. 20) formed of hot pour material 362, may also be
performed mechanically or by hand. Mechanical release of
hot pour product 363 from base part 302 may occur as shown
in FIG. 20. Initially a first receptacle 360 is placed on and in
contact with hot pour product 363. Receptacle 360 may con-
tact the entire upward facing first exposed surface 364 of hot
pour product 363, as shown in FIG. 19, or limited portions of
first exposed surface 364, such as its outer perimeter, not
shown. In FIG. 20, hot pour product 363 in contact with
receptacle 360 is removed from base part 302 by means of lift
366 engaged with receptacle 360 and comprising, for
example, a suction cup, as shown. Additionally or as an alter-
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native, pressure fluid may be introduced in or evacuated from
space 354 to act on removable member 330.

Separation of base part 302 from member 330 may occur
and leave removable member 330 in contact with hot pour
product 363. Removable member 330 is released from hot
pour product 363 to reveal a second exposed surface. Such
release may be by additional mechanical means or by hand
using methods known to one of ordinary skill in the art, or
may occur while member 330 remains in base part 302.
Removable member 330 if having one or more recesses and/
or projections will provide mirror images of such recesses
and/or projections, on its complementary or second exposed
surface 363a of hot pour product 363 when removable mem-
ber 330 is detached.

Receptacle 360 (FIGS. 20 and 21) includes a planar bottom
wall 371, a perimeter rim 373 and one or more inwardly
extending bosses 375 and 377 that may be embedded in
product 363 when receptacle 360 is placed in the position
shown in FIG. 20 and firmly engaged with product 363. As
depicted, receptacle 360 is dimensioned to fit snugly but
releasably in recess 333 (FIG. 20) and to fit snugly over and
engage with hot pour product 363. Product 363 is thus easily
removed from mold base part 302 by mechanism 366, also in
response to flexing of member 330, as described herein.

A hot pour product in contact with a first receptacle may be
introduced or transferred to a second receptacle. The second
receptacle may be in contact with the first receptacle as shown
in FIG. 11B or in contact with a second exposed surface or
upper surface 78 of the hot pour material as shown in FIG.
11C. Contact surfaces of the first receptacle, second recep-
tacle and hot pour product may be contiguous with one
another or of varying elevations, just as the hot pour product,
itself, may be of varying elevations as a result of the features
included and described herein. Accordingly, hot pour prod-
ucts produced by molds and methods provided herein typi-
cally include customized surfaces on all or part of upper
surface 78 and lower surface 80 of HPP 50, for example (FIG.
11A,12 0r13).

While particular embodiments of the invention and method
steps of the invention have been described herein, additional
alternatives not specifically disclosed but known in the art are
intended to fall within the scope of the invention. Thus, it is
understood that other embodiments and applications of the
present invention will be apparent to those skilled in the art
without departing from the scope and spirit of the appended
claims and drawings.

What is claimed is:
1. A process for preparing a customized cosmetic product
comprising the steps of:
providing a mold assembly for casting hot pour material in
a fluid state, the mold assembly having two separable
parts, a first part being a base part with a plurality of
spaced apart cavities extending therethrough and a sec-
ond part being a top part that engages the base part and
having a plurality of pour spaces disposed along its top
surface;
suspending removable patterned inserts within said spaced
apart cavities, said inserts defining different customized
patterns or designs;
applying hot pour material into the removable patterned
inserts through the pour space.
2. The process of claim 1, wherein the process is auto-
mated.
3. The process of claim 1, wherein the top part and base part
further comprise one or more projections, one or more
recesses, and combinations thereof.
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4. The process of claim 1 further comprising separating the
top part from the base part by moving the top part relative to
the base part such that a portion of the hot pour material is in
contact with the base part and wherein another portion of the
hot pour material provides a first exposed surface.

5. The process of claim 1, wherein the hot pour material
when cooled is placed in a receptacle.

6. The process of claim 1, further comprising releasing the
hot pour material when cooled from the base part, the hot pour
material when cooled having a pattern corresponding to the
insert.

7. The process of claim 1, wherein the top part and base part
include cooperating alignment means.

8. The process of claim 5, wherein after placing in a recep-
tacle there is formed a second exposed surface have varying
surface elevations relative to the receptacle. ‘

9. The process of claim 1, wherein the step of applying is
repeated one or more times.

10. The process of claim 1, wherein the hot pour material,
when cooled is released from the base part by pressure.

11. A process for preparing a customized cosmetic product
comprising the steps of:

providing a mold assembly for casting hot pour material in

a fluid state, the mold assembly having a first part being
a top part and a second part being a base part having a
plurality of spaced apart cavities extending therethrough
each, cavity containing at least one insert, wherein the
top part has a plurality of pour spaces disposed along a
top surface, wherein the at least one insert has a pattern
on its bottom surface, is removable and defines custom-
ized patterns or designs;

applying hot pour material into the at least one removable

patterned insert through the pour space and allowing the
hot pour material to cool; and

wherein the at least one removable patterned insert is sus-

pended within a respective one of the spaced apart cavi-
ties.

12. The process of claim 11, wherein the process is auto-
mated.

13. The process of claim 11, wherein the top part and base
part further comprise one or more removable members, pro-
jections, recesses, and combinations thereof.

14. The process of claim 11 further comprising placing at
least one receptacle in contact with the hot pour material
before releasing the hot pour material into the receptacle.

15. The process of claim 14, wherein the at least one
receptacle further comprises a container, article, case, com-
pact, godet, and combinations thereof made of a material
selected from the group consisting of a hardened polymer,
polymer blend, glass, fibrous material, metal and combina-
tions thereof. ‘

16. The process of claim 11, wherein the top part and base
part include cooperating alignment means.

17. The process of claim 14, wherein after releasing the hot
pour material into the receptacle, the hot pour material when
cooled has a pattern corresponding to the insert.

18. The process of claim 12, wherein the step of applying is
repeated with the same or different hot pour material.

19. Customized cosmetic product creation apparatus, com-
prising:

amold assembly comprising at least two parts, a first part

being a base part having top and bottom surfaces with a
plurality of spaced apart cavities extending through said
top and bottom surfaces; a second part being a top part
having top and bottom surfaces and engaging the top
surface of said base part along the bottom surface of said
top part; a plurality of pour spaces disposed along the top
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surface of said top part respectively aligned, and in fluid
communication with, the spaced apart cavities of said
base part;

removable, replaceable patterned inserts respectively sus-
pended within each of said spaced apart cavities for
receiving hot pour materials, said inserts defining differ-
ent customized patterns or designs, whereby the hot pour
materials, within the confines of said patterned inserts,
when cooled, form cosmetic products having corre-
sponding patterns or designs produced on at least one
surface of the cosmetic product formed from the same
mold assembly; and

the hot pour materials inserted into said removable pat-
terned inserts through said pour spaces.

20. The apparatus of claim 19 whereby said hot pour mate-

rials are of respectively different compositions.

21. The apparatus of claim 19 whereby said hot pour mate-
rials are of a same composition.

22. The apparatus of claim 19, wherein the top part and
base part further comprise customizable portions including
one or more projections, one or more recesses, and combina-
tions thereof.

23. The apparatus of claim 19 further comprising first
receptacles for housing the cosmetic products when cooled.

24. The apparatus of claim 23 further comprising second
receptacles for housing the first receptacles.

25. The apparatus of claim 19 further comprising a coop-
erating alignment means for aligning the top part and the base
part.

26. The apparatus of claim 19, wherein the cosmetic prod-
uct when cooled has varying surface elevations.

27. Customized cosmetic product creation apparatus, com-
prising:

a mold assembly comprising at least two separable parts, a
first part being a base part having top and bottom sur-
faces with a plurality of spaced apart cavities extending
through said top and bottom surfaces; a second part
being a top part having top and bottom surfaces and
engaging the top surface of said base part along the
bottom surface of said top part; a plurality of pour spaces
disposed along the top surface of said top part respec-
tively aligned, and in fluid communication with, the
spaced apart cavities of said base part; and

removable, replaceable patterned inserts respectively sus-
pended within each of said spaced apart cavities for
receiving hot pour material, said inserts defining cus-
tomized patterns or designs, whereby hot pour material,
within the confines of said patterned inserts, when
cooled, form cosmetic products having different pat-
terns or designs produced from the same mold assembly
on an upper surface of the cosmetic products.

28. The apparatus of claim 27 wherein said hot pour mate-

rial in each insert is of a different composition.

29. The apparatus of claim 27 wherein said hot pour mate-
rials in each insert is of a same composition.

30. The apparatus of claim 27, wherein the top part and
base part further comprise customizable portions including
one or more projections, one or more recesses, and combina-
tions thereof.

31. The apparatus of claim 27 further comprising first
receptacles for housing the cosmetic products when cooled.

32. The apparatus of claim 31 further comprising second
receptacles for housing the first receptacles.

33. The apparatus of claim 27 further comprising a coop-
erating alignment means for aligning the top part and the base
part.



Case 3:12-cv-0393w Document 2 Filed 09/28/12 Pae 25 of 33 PagelD 27

US 8,025,266 B2

15 16

34. The apparatus of claim 27, wherein the cosmetic prod- part, the top part defining at least one pour space aligned

ucts when cooled have varying surface elevations. with the at least one aperture of the base part; and
35. A mold for creati G duct f hot a patterned insert suspended within the at least one aper-
. rcrealing a cosmetic product lrom a hot pour ture, the patterned insert defining a customized pattern
material, comprising: s and being configured to receive a hot pour material
a base part having top and bottom surfaces, the base part poured through the pour space to form a cosmetic prod-
defining at least one aperture therethrough; uct having a product pattern corresponding to the cus-

tomized pattern.

atop part having top and bottom surfaces, the top surface of
said base part engaging the bottom surface of said top LI A
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